LICENSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL
HEALTH COMMITTEE

SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA

Date:

Monday, 13th June, 2022

Time:

7.00 pm

Venue:

The Guildhall

LICENSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEE
Information for Members of the Public
Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street. The nearest car park is
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the
Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking
space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which
can be reached by using a lift. If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to
attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make
any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.
Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You have the right to inspect copies of
Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the
preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II
of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that
the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to
public inspection.
Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and
for any footage to be broadcast or published.
Please note the Council records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are published
on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted in the
meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will
be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the
Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if
in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider
that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision.
At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the
Agenda. Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day
before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below.
If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs,
film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Lucy Robson-Cropper, Democratic
Services Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY. Telephone: 01905 722280 (direct line); E-Mail
Address: committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.
This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic
minority languages. Please contact the above named officer for further information.
Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address:
worcester.gov.uk

2

Licensing and Environmental Health Committee
Monday, 13 June 2022
Members of the Committee:-

Chair: Councillor Richard Udall (L)
Vice-Chair: Councillor Louis Stephen (G)
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Patricia Agar (LCo)
Jenny Barnes (LCo)
Steve Cockeram (G)
Simon Cronin (L)
Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C)

C= Conservative

Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Stephen Hodgson (C)
Karen Lawrance (LD)
Chris Mitchell (C)
Andy Stafford (C)

G = Green
L = Labour
LCo = Labour and Co-operative
LD = Liberal Democrat

SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA
Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)
5.

Review of Pest Control Services
Page(s): 1 - 8
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer:
Lloyd Griffiths, Corporate Director, Operations, Homes and
Communities
Tel: 01905 722314
For Committee to:
1. Note the contents of the report, and in particular the outcome and
conclusions of the review undertaken
2. Support the use of the Discretionary Welfare Assistance Scheme
where applicable to support residents deemed to be in financial
hardship with the cost of essential pest control treatments.

6.

Annual Air Quality Update
Page(s): 9 - 20
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer:
Mark Cox, Technical Services Manager
For Committee to consider the report from Worcester Regulatory Services.

7.

Caravan Licensing
Page(s): 21 - 48
Ward(s): All Wards

3

Contact Officer:

Niall McMenamin, Senior Practitioner - Licensing
Tel: 01905 822799

For Committee to:
1. Note the recent review of its caravan and mobile home park
licensing function and the implementation of the Mobile Homes
(Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person)
(England)Regulations 2020.
2. Approve the draft Determination Policy at Appendix 1 for
implementation on 1st July 2022
3. Approve the draft Fee Policy for Relevant Protected Sites at
Appendix 2 for the purposes of public consultation.
4. Delegate the Corporate Director of Operations Homes and
Communities in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of
this Committee to approve the draft fee policy for
implementation, subject to a review of the consultation
feedback.

8.

Any Other Business
Which in the opinion of the Chair is of sufficient urgency as to warrant
consideration.

4

Page 1

Agenda Item 5

Report to: Licensing and Environment Health Committee, 13 June 2022
Report of: Corporate Director – Operations, Homes & Communities

Subject:
1.

REVIEW INTO THE RE-INTRODUCTION OF A SUBSIDISED PEST
CONTROL SERVICE FOR WORCESTER CITY

Recommendation
That Committee:

1.1

Notes the contents of the report, and in particular the outcome and
conclusions of the review undertaken

1.2

Supports the use of the Discretionary Welfare Assistance Scheme where
applicable, to support residents deemed to be in financial hardship with the
cost of essential pest control treatments.

2.

Background

2.1

In April 2010 the Council withdrew its Pest Control Service as part of budget setting
for 2010/2011 onwards. The decision to withdraw the service was primarily made on
the grounds of achieving savings but acknowledging that there was no statutory
responsibility placed upon a Council to provide a Pest Control Service and that other
measures are available to deal with significant infestations of rats & mice, where a
property owner or landowner was responsible.

2.2

At Environment Committee on 25th January 2022, a funding proposal was submitted
as part of the budget setting process for 2022/2023 linked to a request for the reintroduction of a subsidised pest control service for residents on low incomes.

2.3

It was agreed that rather than reach a decision about funding in the absence of
information that would support Members in reaching an informed decision, that further
work would be undertaken by officers with a view to bringing a report back to Licensing
& Environmental Health Committee, as the Committee with functional oversight of the
activities carried out by Worcestershire Regulatory Services on behalf of Worcester
City Council.

2.4

Across Worcestershire there is a varied picture on the provision of a District Council
subsidised pest control service with four councils providing a service through
Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS), and Worcester City Council and Wyre
Forest not doing so.

2.5

Each of those councils providing a service, specifies the benefits whose recipients
qualify for the service and the pests included in the service provision. Eligible benefits
are largely consistent across all four as illustrated in the table below. If eligibility and
criteria is met, then a free pest control treatment is provided.
1

Page 2

Council
Area
Bromsgrove
Redditch

Qualifying Benefit





Employment & Support
(ESA)
Full Housing Benefit
80% Council Tax Support
Universal Credit

Pests Covered
Allowance

Malvern
Wychavon












Income Support
Income Related Employment & Support
Allowance
Job Seekers Allowance
Disability Allowance
Personal Independence Payment
Attendance Allowance
Housing Benefit (must be paid 100%)
Council Tax Benefit
Pension Guarantee Credits
Universal Credit







Rats
Mice
Fleas
Bed bugs
Cockroaches

2.6

The subsidised service is delivered via a framework agreement that has been subject
to the host authority’s procurement processes, which currently has six pest control
contractors listed. Those not eligible to access the service are free to use these
contractors or others by way of private contractual arrangements.

2.7

Across the UK it is estimated that between 20 – 30% of councils have withdrawn their
pest control service and this shift has been driven by several factors as outlined below.

2.8

There is now a very buoyant and competitive pest control market including national,
regional, and local pest control contractors. These are organisations and companies
that specialise in pest control and have flexibility and resilience built into their system
to deal with the changing nature of how people live and work nowadays. With
increased choice, it became evident that pest control as a core historical local council
function was less required than it was when local councils were at the heart of
traditional public health work focussed on sanitation and infectious disease.

2.9

In terms of cost of delivering the service, when looking for the best value for money,
it is highly likely that the cost of delivering a local council pest control service would
be more expensive and less efficient than a private contractor. The purchase and
maintenance of 1 dedicated van, the requirement of 1 or more likely 2 staff (to ensure
resilience,) the relatively narrow range of pests dealt with and the traditional window
of working means that it is likely to cost councils more on a per unit basis. The buoyant
pest control market has also restricted the commercial opportunities for local council
pest control services.

2.10 Since April 2016, 633 pest control cases have been recorded by WRS following contact
from residents in Worcester City. The graph below indicates this clear downward trend.

2

Page 3

2.11 Based on a population of just over 100,000 the case rate per 1000 population
(resident/business making a pest control complaint or enquiry) in Worcester City
during the 5-year period 2016/2017 - 2020/2021 is 5.25. This is a very low number,
but it is acknowledged this will not include those people who have decided to approach
a pest control contractor before seeking advice or guidance from WRS, have dealt with
issues themselves or have not dealt with issues. These low numbers would support
the fact that the Council has received very little if any representation from residents
or businesses about the re-introduction of a pest control service or complaints about
the council no longer providing one.
2.12 Having not had a pest control service for 12 years, reintroducing the service would
present a risk both financially and reputationally. Based on information provided by
neighbouring councils, it is likely that the cost of reintroducing the service in Worcester
City would be in the region of £15,000 per annum.
2.13 This is not budgeted for at present, and neither is there a relevant reserve that exists
which could be considered. A decision to reintroduce a subsidised pest control service
therefore will present a budget pressure of circa £15,000 per annum with our mediumterm financial plan confirming that the council needs to achieve a significant reduction
in net spending as shown by the budget report published in February 2022.
2.14 Furthermore, reputationally there is a risk that if a subsidised pest control service is
reintroduced only to be withdrawn at some point in the future, residents’ expectations
will have been mismanaged. Given that regular reviews into the provision of
discretionary services being undertaken over the next several years are highly likely,
it is not considered prudent at this stage to reintroduce a non-statutory service that
will create an ongoing revenue pressure.
2.15 The presence of a river and canal running through the centre of the city will naturally
lead to the presence of rodents, particularly in areas where there is high density of
population and accessible food sources. However, modern building materials and
techniques, good hygiene and control of waste disposal minimise the risk of significant
rodent infestations and their impact. The treatment of mice and rats is relatively
straightforward with effective controls and advice readily available commercially for
residents to take advantage of.

3

Page 4

2.16 As already set out in this report, there are legal controls available to deal with rat and
mice infestations from third-party properties or land that create issues (Prevention of
Damage by Pests Act 1949). Notice, prosecution and works in default powers are
available to local authorities under the legislation where the owner or occupier of a
third-party property does not address a significant pest issue.
2.17 Environmental Health Officers, Private Sector Housing Officers and Environmental
Enforcement Officers will respond where a complaint is received and enforcement
action will be taken, if necessary, to resolve the issue. So if a resident or business
believes they have pests, the cause of which is linked to another property they should
report it to the council at Contact form - Worcester City Council .
2.18 Severn Trent Water provides funding to WRS to undertake sewer baiting across the
County including in Worcester City, and the service targets areas with known problems
or areas with higher rates of rodent complaints.
2.19 Additional investment was approved during 2021/2022 to ensure that the City was
kept clean and tidy, removing opportunities for vermin, particularly discarded food.
Other measures such as the reintroduction of Saturday skips, investment in public
bins, and new bins in the City Centre will all play their part in discouraging vermin.
2.20 It is also important to note that the Council provides financial support to people on low
incomes in a variety of ways to meet essential costs such as food, energy, and utility
bills which in turn will play some part in protecting the level of disposable income
available.
2.21 The council is one of very few in the UK that provides 100% Council Tax relief for those
on lowest incomes. There is a Council Tax Hardship fund in place which assesses
people’s financial difficulty on a case-by-case basis. We continue to deploy financial
assistance and grants through the household support fund provided by Government,
the latest amount being more than £3,000,000 across the County and with £179,000
being able to be directly deployed by Worcester City Council. The council continues to
support local organisations via grant funding, including Worcester Foodbank.
2.22 The council also provides a Discretionary Welfare Assistance Scheme (DWAS) which is
intended to assist vulnerable low-income Worcester households in crisis who need
assistance with the cost of food, white goods, or other essential supplies. The scope
of the scheme was broadened (to include all essential costs) at the outset of COVID19 in response to the government funding that was and continues to be provided to
aid recovery and emerging cost pressures. This scheme would be open to those
residents who would be seeking financial support with the cost of emergency pest
control treatments (in response to a public health risk) where financial hardship was
a factor.
2.23 As part of the review, a number of Registered Housing Providers were also contacted
to understand the support they provide to their tenants who report pest control issues.
Based on 2011 Census Data and affordable housing completion data provided within
the Worcester City Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019, social rented
properties make up over 7000 of the City’s circa 50,000 properties.
2.24 It was clear that good levels of support were in place for social rented tenants and that
once pest control issues were reported to their landlord, an inspection would be carried
out and repairs and or treatments arranged on their behalf. Historically it was very
4

Page 5

often the case that landlords would only intervene where the pest control issue was
affecting communal areas, but many landlords now appreciate that a one size fits all
approach is not appropriate and that what starts out as an isolated issue, can without
resolution become a wider issue affecting more households.
2.25 It is the concluding view of officers therefore, that it is not necessary to reintroduce a
subsidised pest control service due to the following main reasons:
1) Pest control is a discretionary service that if reintroduced in Worcester City would
create an annual revenue budget pressure in the region of £15,000 per annum at a
time when the council needs to achieve significant reduction in net spending as shown
by the budget report published in February.
2) There is a buoyant pest control market including national, regional and local
contractors who can provide a reactive, flexible and resilient service across a range of
pest issues.
3) The Council can take enforcement action in respect of significant pest infestation issues
where this is caused by the failure of a third party to control matters on their property.
In addition, Registered Housing Providers are supporting tenants with their pest
control issues.
4) Numbers of service requests and complaints about pest control have decreased over
the last 5 years and the rate per 1000 population average across Worcester City is
very low at 5.25.
5) The Council already provides a wide range of financial support to residents on low
income and in financial hardship to support them with essential costs and protect their
disposable income.
3.

Preferred Option

3.1

The review and conclusion of this report is that at this current time there does not
appear to be a compelling business case to reintroduce a subsidised pest control
service for Worcester City.

3.2

The report does recognise however that households in financial hardship are likely to
find it more difficult to pay for pest control services, perhaps not perceiving it as
important as other essential costs such as food and energy.

3.3

Therefore, in addition to the existing breadth of financial support available to residents
to support with essential costs, the report proposes that this Committee endorses the
use of the existing Discretionary Welfare Assistance Scheme for those in financial
hardship to support with the costs of essential pest control services for public health
pests.

4.

Alternative Options Considered

4.1

The option to re-introduce a pest control service would likely be centred around 2
models. These include –
1) The provision of a ‘full cost recovery’ pest control service with no subsidies in place
either delivered in house or through a procured pest control contractor; or
5

Page 6

2) The provision of a ‘subsidised’ pest control service only available to residents who
are in receipt of a qualifying benefit either delivered in house or through a procured
pest control contractor
4.2

In respect of option 1, this has been discounted as in effect this would result in the
Council adding cost to its base budget (staff costs, van, equipment, materials, etc)
likely to be in the region of £30,000 - £50,000 per annum.

4.3

Although the aim would be to recover all costs of delivering the service, this would
prove very difficult given that Worcester City Council has not provided such a service
for twelve years and there is a very active and competitive pest control contractor
market both locally and regionally that would be able to respond far more flexibly to
demand than a more traditional Council service. Introducing charges to all for the
service would also drive down demand, particularly for those on low income or in
financial hardship.

4.4

The reasons for not recommending option 2 have been set out within section 3 of this
report. However, if the Council was minded to approving option 2, then it would be
preferable to do so via the uplift mechanism available via the Worcestershire
Regulatory Services Shared Service arrangement, with WRS administering the scheme
on the Councils’ behalf.

4.5

It would be advisable that any qualifying criteria we seek to apply should be in line
with criteria we currently reference for other subsidised services such as bulky waste
and leisure memberships etc. In addition, it would seem sensible to only include
treatments for public health pests including rats, mice, fleas, bed bugs and
cockroaches. This would not include bees, wasps or squirrels etc.

4.6

Advice would also be sought on whether Worcester City Council could benefit from the
existing contractual arrangement between the host authority for WRS and the selected
pest control contractors via a framework.

5.

Implications

5.1

Financial and Budgetary Implications
This report does not recommend the reintroduction of a pest control service and
therefore the recommendation presents no financial and budgetary implications.
As already set out in the report however, if the Council were minded reintroducing
such a service, then based on figures from a neighbouring council it is likely that costs
of doing so on a subsidised basis would be in the region of £15,000 - £20,000 each
year.
These costs have not been budgeted for and there is no current reserve applicable to
this area of work. Funding the reintroduction of this service would therefore create a
budget pressure both in year (pro-rata) and future years in the region of £15,000 £20,000 per annum.
The Medium Term Financial Plan 2022 – 2027 approved by Council in February 2022
sets out the need to achieve a significant reduction in net spending over the MTFP
period and likely beyond.
6

Page 7

5.2

Legal and Governance Implications
As stated within the main body of the report, District Councils are under no statutory
duty to provide a pest control service.
The duty placed on every local authority via The Prevention of Damage by Pests Act
1949, is as follows –


To take such steps as may be necessary to secure so far as practicable that their
district is kept free from rats and mice, and in particular—
(a)

from time to time to carry out such inspections as may be necessary for the
purpose aforesaid.

(b)

to destroy rats and mice on land of which they are the occupier and otherwise
to keep such land so far as practicable free from rats and mice.

(c)

to enforce the duties of owners and occupiers of land under the following
provisions of this Part of this Act, and to carry out such operations as are
authorised by those provisions.

Furthermore, the Act provides enforcement powers for Councils to serve a Legal Notice
requesting steps to be taken for the destruction of rats and mice, and these can be
discharged through both the Council (Private Sector Housing) and Worcestershire
Regulatory Services, where it is deemed necessary.
5.3

Risk Implications
The key risks identified are that of financial risk and reputational risk as set out at para
2.12 – 2.14.

5.4

Corporate/Policy Implications
The Worcester City Plan 2022 – 2027 includes three priorities that relate to the subject
of this report. Stronger and Connected Communities, Healthy and Active City, and
Enhancing and Sustaining our Beautiful City for Future Generations. Good quality
housing, appropriate and accessible health services and our city being a beautiful place
to be in as a resident or visitor are all key outcomes that we are seeking to deliver.

5.5

Equality Implications
There are not considered to be any equality implications associated with this report as
the recommendation within the report is not considered to impact any one group of
protected characteristics negatively or positively.

5.6

Human Resources Implications
There are no human resource implications in respect of what this report is
recommending.
7

Page 8

However, if the Council wished to reintroduce a pest control service and furthermore
wished for this to be delivered in house and not through Worcestershire Regulatory
Services or a procured contractor, then this would require recruitment of at least one
pest control officer and require consideration as to where this function sat within the
council and who it reported to.
5.7

Health and Safety Implications
There are no health and safety implications in respect of what this report is
recommending.
However, if the Council wished to reintroduce a pest control service and furthermore
wished for this to be delivered in house and not through Worcestershire Regulatory
Services or a procured contractor, then this would require a series of health and safety
risk assessments and working procedures to be developed to support the work of a
pest control officer. His or her work would then require regular monitoring and
assessment to ensure risk assessments and working procedures were being followed.

5.8

Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
The social impacts of not reintroducing a subsidised pest control service include the
impact that pest issues can have on a property and in particular its household if they
are unable to afford or arrange a treatment, or in doing so places them under
increasing financial pressure.
These impacts are mitigated as has already been set out within this report including
by using enforcement powers and via the range of financial support provided by the
Council through various schemes to those on low incomes and in financial hardship.
There are not considered to be any significant environmental or economic implications
in respect of this report.

Ward(s):

All

Contact Officer:

Lloyd Griffiths – Corporate Director, Operations, Homes &
Communities
Tel: 01905 722371
E-mail: Lloyd.griffiths@worcester.gov.uk

Background Papers:

N/A

8

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

Report to: Licensing and Environmental Health Committee, 13th June 2022
Report of: Corporate Director – Operations, Homes and Communities

Subject:
1.

2022 Annual Air Quality Update Report

Recommendation
That Committee -

1.1

Notes the contents of this report

2.

Background

2.1

Air pollution is associated with several adverse health impacts. It is recognised as a
contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air pollution
particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, and those
with heart and lung conditions. There is also a strong correlation with deprivation, as
issues of poor air quality are commonly associated with less affluent areas.

2.2

In Worcester there are monitored breaches of the National Objective for the annual
average concertation of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2). NO2 is also considered to be an
indicator gas for a range of other pollutants such as fine particles, all of which are
associated with the combustion of fossil fuels. Road going vehicles traversing the City
are the single greatest contributor to the elevated levels of NO2 measured in recent
years. It is considered that a reduction in the level of road vehicle pollution in central
Worcester will contribute significantly to improved public health outcomes.

2.3

Monitoring of NO2 in the City has taken place for over a quarter of a century and in
2021 WRS completed a short and long term (20 year) trend analysis of the data. The
report concluded that concentrations of NO2 can be seen to be decreasing over time
due to the introduction of improved engines and vehicle technologies. However due to
the volume of traffic and a very traditional road network, it is considered that
exceedances of the air quality objective will continue to be recorded across the City’s
monitoring network in future years.

2.4

Under the Environment Act 1995, local authorities have a duty to review and assess
air quality within their areas and where breaches of the National Objective for a
pollutant exist, work towards improving air quality must be undertaken. National
Objectives for pollutants are set by European Directives and translated into UK
legislation. Where an objective is consistently breached an Air Quality Management
Area (AQMA) must be declared and then the subsequent production of an Air Quality
Action Plan (AQAP) that addresses the problem. Since 2021 AQAP’s must have defined
compliance deadlines and delivery will be overseen by the OEP (see section 2.5)

2.5

The assent of the Environment Act 2021 in January also marked the Government’s
further prioritisation of air quality. The law requires local authorities to commit to
statutory delivery deadlines on their annual Air Quality Status Reports (ASR’s), Air
Quality Detail Assessments, AQMA’s and AQAP’s. These deadlines also legally oblige
two tier authorities to cooperate as ‘air quality partners’. Furthermore Part 1 enables

Page 10
the creation of a new government watchdog called the Office for Environmental
Protection (OEP) who will oversee the delivery of environmental regulation by national
and local government.
3.

Information

3.1

DEFRA Air Quality Status Report (ASR) 2022 & Air Quality results

3.2

The 2022 report is currently being prepared by officers in line with the DEFRA deadline
for submission set for the 30th June.

3.3

The body of the report will focus on the emerging strategic transport programme
provided by the County Council and a review of air quality results for 2021.

3.4

WRS undertook non-automatic (passive) monitoring of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) at 37
sites during 2021. No exceedance of the long-term objective for NO2 was recorded in
2021, with all but two locations recording 10% below the air quality objective (40
µg/m3) - the exceptions being the bus station in the Butts (39.1 µg/m3) and Rainbow
Hill (38.3 µg/m3).

3.5

Although monitoring data from 2021 shows an overall increase in average recorded
annual mean NO2 concentrations compared to 2020, increasing by 13.2% (3.2 µg/m3),
2020 was not representative of a standard year due to the COVID-19 Pandemic and
first lockdown in March 2020 and subsequent lockdowns that followed. It is anticipated
that monitoring for the city is likely to report a return to pre-COVID levels of pollution
in 2022.

3.6

Graphs detailing the current NO2 data and monitoring trends across the city are
provided at Appendix 1.

3.7

Historic Reporting of Air Quality Exceedance (Hotspots) & formulation of Air Quality
Management Areas

3.8

Prior to 2019 the Council had several small air quality management areas declared
due to successive annual exceedances of the national NO2 objective (Hotspots). The
2019 ASR reported 3 sites historically declared as AQMA’s (Dolday/Bridge Street,
Lowesmoor/Rainbow Hil, St Johns) with an additional location of Sidbury/London Road
which had recently been studied and considered a hotspot.

3.9

With other sites emerging at the time also showing potential levels of pollution that
were likely to exceed the objectives the Council decided that developing solutions to
these issues required a holistic approach as treating each hotspot in its own right
limited the process of creative transport planning. Hence the decision to declare the
City as a single AQMA was approved.

3.10 The declaration of AQMA’s lead on to the second phase of work – source apportionment
which in turn informs the development of the AQAP.
3.11 The untimely arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic prevented the process of source
apportionment work form taking place until September 2021 when traffic volumes
returned to pre COVID levels. Source apportionment is where the traffic in a particular
location is monitored and analysed in terms of volume and vehicle type. The study
identifies which form of vehicles contribute to the most pollution in each location. This
is not just based on the type of vehicle of highest volume at that location, as some
vehicle types such as HGVs provide greater levels of pollution than others so a
calculation has to be made. WRS recently completed the first draft of this work which
is presently being peer reviewed.

Page 11
3.12 The development of the new AQAP will be undertaken using the information provided
by the source apportionment exercise. Previous source apportionment work in the St.
Johns Ward has indicated that the reduction in the number of vehicles required to
bring pollution levels to acceptable standards is significant and it is anticipated that
the development of the city-wide AQAP will need to be challenging and will require the
support and buy in of key partners including Worcestershire County Council,
particularly in its role as Highways Authority.
3.13 Upon finalising the Source Apportionment study WRS intends to assemble an officers’
group for the purpose of action planning. The group will consist of WRS, Public Health
and Worcestershire Highways. This will be necessary for the next stage of AQAP
planning.
3.14 It will require the consideration of many options, some of which are likely to be
invasive methods of discouragement or reduction in road traffic entering areas
identified as having air quality exceedances. With the above in mind the AQMA will
also come with a commitment that legally binds all ‘air quality partners’ to an agreed
timeline of delivery that DEFRA consider acceptable.
3.15 Air Quality Monitoring Review
3.16 There are three main reasons to undertake air monitoring:


Air quality management (AQM) work as required by law which is overseen by
DEFRA



To harvest real-time information about air quality for the purposes of informing
the public and public health professionals/NHS.



To provide additional data and information to supplement a specific air quality
study or to assess an air quality improvement scheme

3.17 To comply with the Government set air quality management regime, air monitoring in
the City is undertaken exclusively with passive diffusion tube monitoring techniques.
This method has been robustly tested over many years and is used by all local
authorities for the purpose of monitoring NO2 in the outdoor environment.
3.18 The measurement technique has been fine-tuned over time and it provides a level of
accuracy that is considered acceptable by DEFRA for the purposes of AQM work. It is
also a very cost-effective method at around £7 per location per month (laboratory
supply and analysis only). Data using this technique can be harvested over a large
geographic area and this method has also proven excellent for the purpose of trending
air quality over a long period of time.
3.19 There are however limitations to using this technique. Diffusion tubes lack absolute
accuracy and can display a +/-10% error rate so locations close to the government
objective threshold for action require further study using more sophisticated methods
prior to taking action (see para 3.20). Diffusion tubes don’t provide instant data as
they must be subjected to the national QA/QC process which corrects the ‘tube bias’
retrospectively following the completion of the national adjustment Study co-ordinated
by DEFRA. Hence data collected in a specific year is not available in a reliable format
until the following April.
3.20 All of the Worcestershire District Councils employ a diffusion tube monitoring
programme; however Wyre Forest District Council have implemented enhanced
monitoring arrangements at two locations in Kidderminster.

Page 12
3.21 A highly accurate NO2 gas analyser has been installed in Kidderminster that monitors
pollution in real-time. Diffusion tubes are also co-located here. The data harvested
from both techniques provide us with a local bias adjustment factor which provides
several scientific advantages over that of the slow national scheme. The data collected
also allows us to report nationally what the background NO2 concertation’s are in
Worcestershire.
3.22 The capital cost of such a system would be around £17,000 with annual maintenance
costs of £2000. This system demands officer time to be manage and is effectively a
laboratory instrument inside a bespoke roadside case.
3.23 The second Kidderminster site employs a purpose-built electrochemical gas measuring
system purchased by Wyre Forest District Council. This system is not as accurate as
the other gas analyser and is not currently approved for AQM work by DEFRA.
Nevertheless, it provides real-time information on NO2 levels, particulate matter (PM10
and PM2.5) and ozone (O3).
3.24 The equipment has been deployed at a location which was subject to significant road
junction improvements in 2019. Prior to these changes this area had the poorest air
quality in Worcestershire and the equipment is being used to monitor the effectiveness
of these improvements. The equipment will also be used to monitor the significant
developments planned on the east side of Kidderminster over the forthcoming years
and determine whether they have a detrimental effect on air quality at this location.
The system has a capital cost of around £4,000 and annual maintenance and data
harvesting cost varies between £1000 and £2000 per year.
3.25 Moving forward WRS anticipate that this technology will gain approval for AQM work
as the government is awaiting the outcome of a scientific study conducted on behalf
of DEFRA on this technology. There is great interest in deploying such instruments
instead of the present expensive and cumbersome machinery that is presently
approved. We have seen networks of these units set up in Wolverhampton, Dudley,
Shrewsbury and Nottingham etc.
3.26 A third installation is also being commissioned to monitor NO2 and PM10 in another
location within the County which is similar to the system discussed in 3.20. It is
expected to have capital and installation cost in excess of £30k. This system is required
to accurately measure pollution levels as diffusion tubes are not sufficiently accurate
to determine whether air quality is breaching current AQM set thresholds.
3.27 Given the likelihood of needing to enhance the air quality monitoring provision within
the City, consideration is being given to a future recommendation to this Committee
for the implementation of the purpose-built electrochemical gas measuring systems
referred to in para 2.22.
3.28 These types of monitor are sufficiently accurate to provide the public and the Council
with real time information on air quality. They are fairly mobile pieces of kit and easily
installed on lamp posts, with the option to power by solar or batteries. Due to the
reduced capital cost (compared to other options) the Council could consider investing
in a network of these which can provide useful information on locations that should be
avoided due to poor air quality. The information collected can also be utilised by the
County Highways and incorporated into their roadside information boards or
distributed by the NHS/Public Health.
3.29 Should the Committee consider this as an appropriate way forward WRS will assess
the options available in greater detail and report back (as part of presenting the DEFRA

Page 13
Air Quality Status Report (ASR) 2022) at the 12th September 2022 Committee with a
Decision Report that will include more details around options and costings.

Ward(s):

All

Contact Officer:

Richard Williams – Principal Officer (Technical Pollution)
Worcestershire Regulatory Services
E-mail: Richard.williams@worcsregservices.gov.uk
Tel: 01562 732581

Background Papers:

N/A

Page 14
Appendix 1

Page 15

Page 16

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

LR1

StJ2

LR3

StJ3

McI

London
London
Road
Road
Lampost
traffic sign
6561 by
572 for
Royal
A58(City)
Court

LR2

LR4

Ast4

AST1b

London rd
London
Bus stop
Rd
SL6554
SL6565
opp Bath
adj no65
rd

LR5

But1

But2

Dd1

DDASH

BrS

Ast3

OAK

LRW

BG2

Bridge
Sidbury
Street
Street
Dolday Lampost
Magdala Magdala
lamppost
sign o/s
opposite opposite
Court,
Court,
outside
Fisher
bus
All Saints
The Butts The Butts
John
German
station
House
Gwen
Agents
House

SidFG
Bridge
Street
sign
opposite
John
Gwynne
House

BrS2

McIntyre
Road
LP5129
within
The
lamppost
Astwood
22
The Bell,
246
outside
vicinity of located adjacent
Green, Worceste
Fortune
outside
Road 3 Oaklands
Site Name
35 St
Astwood 170/172
London on metal
to 17
Broomhall r, WR5
House, 65
last
Rainbow
on
Johns
Road
Astwood
Road
post
Broomhall
,
2PG
St jiohns
house
Hill
drainpipe
Road
Waitrose
before
cemetary
Roadside
Site Type Roadside Roadside Suburban Roadside Roadside Roadside Roadside Kerbside

Diffusion
Tube ID

London
Road
Lampost
Site Name
6569 by
Bargain
Booze

Diffusion
Tube ID
No 26
Upper
Tything
(Lp opp
Kwik Fit)

Tyn3

Tyn

Fos2

Fos3

Hewitt
Café
Lamb &
925 Recruitme
Mela, 22
Flag PH HAMMER nt, 35
Foregate
Upper
CHILDS, Foregate
Street
Tything
Upper
Street
(downpipe
(LP934)
Tything (downpipe
)
)

Tyn2

Crs1

Swth1

Foregate
Street at
My
Scope
junction Coffee, 29
Shop, St
with Shaw The Cross
Swithins
Street (downpipe
Street
(Traffic
)
lights)

Fos

Page 20

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

Report to: Licensing and Environment Health Committee, 13 June 2022
Report of: Head of Worcestershire Regulatory Services on Behalf of Worcester
City Council

Subject:

1.

Review of the Mobile Homes Act 2013 and Implementation of the
Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be a Fit and Proper
Person) (England) Regulations 2020.

Recommendation
That Committee:

1.1

Notes the contents of this report and in particular the consideration of
implementing the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit
and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020

1.2

Approve the draft Determination Policy at Appendix 1 for implementation on
1st July 2022

1.3

Approve the draft Fee Policy for Relevant Protected Sites at Appendix 2 for
the purpose of stakeholder consultation

1.4

Delegates the Corporate Director of Operations, Homes and Communities in
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of this Committee, to approve the
draft fee policy for implementation, subject to a review of the consultation
feedback

2.

Background

2.1

The Council is responsible for the licensing of caravan sites. There are two main areas
of caravan site licensing, those sites with residential caravans, commonly referred to
as ‘residential park home sites’, and those with caravans sited for holiday purposes.

2.2

Officers have recently undertaken a review of the Council’s Caravan and Mobile Home
Park licensing function, in response to the implementation of the Mobile Homes
(Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations
2020.

2.3

In doing so Officers have identified that with the implementation of The Mobile Homes
Act 2013, introduced in April 2014 local authorities have been in a position to charge
fees in relation to the licensing of Residential Sites, known as “Relevant Protected
Sites”, in order to cover the costs of administration this particular licensing function.

2.4

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person)
(England) Regulations 2020 amend the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act
1960 to introduce a fit and proper person test for relevant protected mobile / park

Page 22

home site owners or the person appointed to manage the site. The purpose of the fit
and proper person test is to improve the standards of park home site management.
2.5

The Regulations were made on 23 September 2020 and allow local authorities to
prepare to receive applications from site owners from 1 July 2021. All site owners must
apply to be assessed as fit and proper persons and to be included on a fit and proper
person register.

2.6

The Council will consider a set of criteria under the “fit and proper person test” and will
either grant an application unconditionally, grant it subject to conditions, or reject it.
If the test is failed, the site owner would have to appoint a new manager (who must
be a fit and proper person) themselves, or consent to the local authority doing so.

2.7

The draft Determination Policy at “Appendix 1” sets out the approach that will be
taken when determining applications for inclusion on the register of fit and proper
persons. The draft Determination Policy also sets out the approach that will be taken
when considering the removal of someone from the register.

2.8

In light of the Council’s ability to charge fees in line with the Mobile Homes Act 2013
and with the recent introduction of the “fit and proper person test”, the Licensing
Committee are also asked to approve the draft Fee Policy for Relevant Protected Sites
at “Appendix 2” for the purpose of public consultation.

2.9

Whilst there is no statutory duty imposed on the Council to consult on the proposed
draft fees policy, officers will undertake a consultation exercise on the policy over a 6week period with various trade bodies and their representatives. Consultation will also
take place with licensed relevant protected site owners, of which it has been identified
that there is currently only one within Worcester.

3.

Preferred Option

3.1

Officers recommend the Licensing and Environmental Health Committee to approve
the draft Determination Policy at Appendix 1 with a commencement date of 1st July
2022.

3.2

Furthermore, Committee are recommended to approve the draft Fee Policy for
Relevant Protected Sites at Appendix 2 for the purpose of a six week consultation
exercise with relevant stakeholders.

3.3

The consultation will provide respondents with the opportunity to make comment on
proposal to adopt the draft Fee Policy, with the results of the consultation being
reported back to Members for consideration at a future meeting of the Licensing
Committee.

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial and Budgetary Implications
Adoption of a revised Fee Policy for Relevant Protected Sites will allow the Council to
go some way to recovering its costs in respect of the administration of the current
caravan and mobile home licensing function and also for any applications it receives
for inclusion on the register of fit and proper persons. It should be noted however that
the Licensing Function and its fees are set at cost recovery rates and does not seek to
create a surplus in line with licensing legislation.

Page 23

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Legal and Governance Implications
Approval of the Determination Policy will assist the Council to make robust and
consistent decisions, in order to mitigate the risks of appeals against those decisions
being successful at a Tribunal.
Risk Implications
Without a Determination Policy, the Council may be challenged when exercising its
functions under the Regulations and the Mobile Homes Act 2013 through several
routes, e.g. service complaints to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
and judicial review. Conversely, by implementing the requirements of the Regulations,
the Council is complying with its legal obligation.
Corporate/Policy Implications
All regulatory policies relating to Environmental Health and Licensing approved by
Worcester City Council should comply with the Regulators Code. The Regulators Code
is made under the provisions of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. It
seeks to promote proportionate, consistent, and targeted regulatory activity through
the development of transparent and effective dialogue and understanding between
regulators and those they regulate.
Equality Implications
The Licensing and Environmental Health Committee will ensure it has regard to the
desirability of exercising its functions regarding the need to eliminate discrimination
and to increase equality of opportunity.

4.6

On this occasion no Equality Implications have been identified.

4.7

Human Resources Implications
No Human Resources Implications have been identified.

4.8

Health and Safety Implications
No Health and Safety Implications have been identified.

4.9

Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
Implementation of the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and
Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 will ensure that only fit and proper persons
will manage relevant protected mobile home sites in Worcester.

4.10 There are no anticipated environmental economic implications associated with
the recommendations in this report.

Ward(s):

All

Contact Officer:

Niall McMenamin, Principal Officer – Licensing
Tel: 01905 - 822799
E-mail: niall.mcmenamin@worcsregservices.gov.uk

Background Papers:

None

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

Caravan Sites and Control of DevelopmentAppendix
Act 1960

1

Fit and Proper Person Register

DETERMINATION POLICY

1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England)
Regulations 2020, require the manager of a site to be a Fit and Proper Person (“the Regulations”).
Local authorities are accordingly required to introduce a fit and proper person test for mobile home
site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site, unless they are eligible for an exemption
under the Regulations.

1.2

The Regulations, made on 23 September 2020, allows local authorities to receive applications from
site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site.

1.3

Worcester City Council must be satisfied that the site owner “is a fit and proper person to manage
the site” or, if the owner does not manage the site, “that a person appointed” to do so by the site
owner “is a fit and proper person to do so” or has, with the site owner’s consent, “appointed a person
to manage the site.”

1.4

Where a site owner or their manager fails the fit and proper person test, and they are unable to
identify and appoint a suitable alternative manager, who must pass the fit and proper person
assessment, Worcester City Council can instead appoint a person to manage the site, but only with
the consent of the site owner.

1.5

Principally, the fit and proper person test applies to a “relevant protected site”. A relevant
protected site is a site, which requires a licence and which is not solely for holiday purposes or is
otherwise not capable of being used all year round. The fit and proper person requirement will
ensure that site owners, or their managers, have integrity and follow best practice. Additionally, it
provides the safeguard that such individuals will not pose a risk to the welfare or safety of persons
occupying mobile homes on the site i.e. park home owners.

2.0

The Evidence

2.1

Is the individual able to conduct effective management of the site. This includes, but is not
limited to, securing compliance with the site licence and the long-term maintenance of the site. It
follows that, the local authority must have regard to:
 whether the person has a sufficient level of competence to manage the site;
 the management structure and funding arrangements for the site or
 the proposed management structure and funding arrangements.
Competence to manage the site

2.2

This includes reviewing the competency of the appointed individual. The individual must have
sufficient experience in site management, or have received sufficient training, and be fully aware of
the relevant law as well as health and safety requirements.

Page 26
The management structure and funding arrangements for the site
2.3

Worcester City Council must consider whether relevant management structures are in place and
whether they are adequate to ensure effective management of the site. The applicant is expected
to have a robust management plan which should address the following points:








2.4

the pitch fee payment;
proximity of the manager to the site;
manager’s contact details for residents (including out of office and emergency contact
details);
the complaints procedure;
maintenance;
staffing;
refuse/recycling removal.

It is advisable that the site is managed by an applicant based in the UK and a management structure
would be unlikely to be suitable if the applicant is an individual, or a company (including its directors),
which does not reside or have a permanent UK address. This is because there may complex issues
as a result of this, such as needing the court’s permission to serve a claim in a foreign country. The
applicant’s interest in the land will also have an important impact, as would their financial standing,
management structures and competence, all of which could contribute to the overall assessment of
their suitability to manage the site effectively.
The proposed management structure and funding arrangements in place for managing the site

2.5

Worcester City Council must consider whether the applicant has sufficient funds (or has access to
sufficient funds) to manage the site and comply with licence obligations. Evidence of these funds
should be readily available.

2.6

Personal information relating to the applicant concerned. This would include a criminal record
check and should include evidence that the applicant:










has not committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, violence, firearms or
drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (offences
attracting notification requirements);
has not contravened any provision of the law relating to housing, caravan sites, mobile
homes, public health, planning or environmental health or of landlord and tenant law;
has not contravened any provision of the Equality Act 2010 in, or in connection with, the
carrying on of any business;
has not harassed any person in, or in connection with, the carrying on of any business;
is not or has not been within the past 10 years, personally insolvent;
is not or has not been within the past 10 years, disqualified from acting as a company
director;
has the right to work in the United Kingdom and,
is a member of any redress scheme enabling complaints to be dealt with in connection with
the management of the site (when this is in place).

2.7

Worcester City Council has a duty to investigate any conduct which could amount to harassment
and any evidence obtained should be reviewed to determine whether it is sufficient to be used to
prosecute a site owner. Worcester City Council may also rely on convictions by the courts as
evidence of harassing behaviour which would reduce the risk of the local authority being
successfully challenged on any refusal to approve an applicant on this basis.

2.8

Worcester City Council may have records of previous harassment complaints made against a site
owner or their manager. Even if no action was taken on these complaints these be taken into

Page 27
consideration in the fit and proper person determination. These complaints may identify further
potential risks and can also provide an indication of potential underlying problems with the
management of the site or the site owner’s lack of experience/skills in dealing with customers.
Worcester City Council may also address any underlying issues by attaching conditions to the
individual’s entry on the register.
2.9

Rejection of an application by other local authorities. Upon rejection of a person’s application
by any other local authority, this should be centrally recorded and include the details of the person
involved and the reason(s) for the rejection.

3.0

Items to take into consideration

3.1

“The applicant” is defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations as “the person who makes an
application under regulation 6”.

3.2

The “relevant person” is also defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations to mean “the subject of the
fit and proper person assessment under Regulation 7”.

3.3

The conduct of any person associated or formerly associated with the relevant person (whether on
a personal, work or other basis) is also an important factor to be considered in the fit and proper
person assessment.

3.4

Site owners may be required to provide details of any current or former associates of the relevant
person in the application form. Those associates will not include other current joint owners as that
information would have already needed to have been provided in their own application forms.

3.5

It is not routinely required to provide information of all current or past associates of the site owner.
It is advisable however that, prior to making any final decisions, Worcester City Council considers
the conduct of past and current associates relevant to that individual’s application. The site owner
can be asked to provide additional information during the application process.

3.6

Worcester City Council will be required to establish whether an individual is considered to be an
associate of the relevant person and then whether their conduct is relevant to the application. A
relevant associate could be defined as any individual who may have played a part, directly or
indirectly, in a decision or action, which has had an impact on residents’ rights, or the quiet
enjoyment of their homes.

3.7

The Regulations are drafted widely giving the opportunity for local authorities to take into
consideration other relevant matters. However, Worcester City Council is mindful that poor
management practices do not affect a person’s conduct, unless they are also a breach of the
criminal or civil law. A person cannot be deemed unfit due to conduct, simply because of poor
management, although that factor is highly relevant to determining any question of suitability or
competence. All conduct is relevant in relation to the person’s fitness to hold a licence and/or
manage the particular mobile home site.

3.8

Worcester City Council is able to decide the specific matters deemed relevant to the fit and proper
person application. These matters could be in relation to current or previous issues, or events, that
have occurred in relation to the park site or any other park site owned or managed by the site owner
or site manager in another local authority area. Additionally, the site owner’s conduct regarding
other business, outside of the park homes sector, can also have implications on the financial and
management arrangements of the site in question. Any matters which Worcester City Council
believe to be of relevance to the application should primarily focus on the relevant person’s conduct,
competence and their suitability to manage the site.

3.9

Worcester City Council aim to obtain evidence to support any additional matters that they require
to be taken into consideration for each application. This is to mitigate any risks should the
Council’s final decision be challenged at a tribunal. The evidence could include previous tribunal
and court decisions, documents or records from Companies House, or other public bodies or

Page 28
financial institutions. It is not anticipated that allegations which have not been investigated or
documented will be used as evidence to support the authority’s decision.
4.0

Applications

4.1

The Regulations use various terms in the application process and these are outlined below:

4.2

“Relevant person” is defined in paragraph 2 of the Regulations and is “the subject of the fit and
proper person assessment under Regulation 7”. This could be the site owner or person appointed
to manage the site by the site owner.

4.3

“Relevant officer” is defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations, where the applicant
is a company, a relevant officer will be a director or other officer of the company; or, where the
applicant is a partnership, a partner; or, where the applicant is a body corporate, a member of the
management committee of that body.

4.4

“Required Information” is defined in paragraph 14 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations (even though
the Regulations incorrectly state that this information is contained in paragraph 13) as:





4.5

the person’s name and business contact details;
details of the person’s role or proposed role in relation to the management of the site;
where the person has not yet been appointed, the address, telephone number and email
address (if any) at which the person may be contacted in respect of the application;
details of each relevant protected site (other than that to which the registration application
relates) for which the person holds a licence issued under section 3 of the Caravan Sites
and Control of Development Act, 1960, or in which the person has a legal estate or
equitable interest, or which the person manages.

The application for inclusion in the fit and proper register, must therefore include the following:
Details of the site and the applicant

4.6

Information provided must include:









The applicant’s name and business contact details.
Where the applicant is not an individual, the following information in relation to the individual
completing the application on behalf of the applicant and each relevant officer:
i.
the person’s name;
ii.
details of the person’s role (if any) in relation to the management of the site.
The name and address of the site.
Evidence of the applicant’s legal estate or equitable interest in the site.
Confirmation that the applicant is the occupier within the meaning of section 1 of the Caravan
Sites and Control of Development Act 1960.
The name and business contact details of any other person that has a legal estate or
equitable interest in the site.

The name and address of each other relevant protected sites
4.7

Information provided must include the name(s) and address(es) of any other relevant protected
site(s):




for which the applicant holds a licence issued under Section 3 of the Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960;
in which the applicant has a legal estate or equitable interest;
that the applicant manages.

Page 29
4.8

The applicant must clearly specify whether the application is made in respect of either the applicant,
the site owner, or the person that the applicant or site owner has appointed to manage the site.
Information relating to the site manager

4.9

In circumstances where a site manager has been appointed to manage a site, more information is
needed. The person who is applying for the site manager to be registered as a fit and proper person
(the relevant person) must provide the site manager’s name and details of that person’s role (if any)
in relation to the management of the site.

4.10

If the site manager has appointed or intends to appoint a further individual (‘A’), Required
Information would also be needed from A. Where A is not a relevant officer of the site manager, the
relevant officer to whom A is accountable for the day-to-day management of the site should provide
the Required Information.
Additional information when the applicant is the relevant person and an individual

4.11

When the applicant is the relevant person, is an individual and the applicant has appointed, or
intends to appoint, someone else (‘B’) to be responsible for the day-to-day management of the site,
Required Information would be needed from B. If B is not an individual but is, for example, a
company and B has appointed an individual (‘C’) to do the-day-to day management, Required
Information would be needed from C. Where C is not a relevant officer of a company, the relevant
officer to whom C is accountable for the day-to-day management of the site would also need to
provide the Required Information.
Additional information where applicant is relevant person and not an individual

4.12

When the applicant is the relevant person but is not an individual and the applicant has appointed
or intends to appoint someone else (‘B’) to be responsible for the day-to-day management of the
site, Required Information would be needed from this person. If B is not a relevant officer of the
applicant, the person to whom B is accountable for the day-to-day management of the site (‘C’)
would also need to provide the Required Information. Where B is not an individual, the individual
that B has appointed or intends to appoint to be responsible for the day-to-day management of the
site (‘D’), would also need to provide the Required Information. Where D is not a relevant officer of
B, the relevant officer to whom D is accountable for the day-to-day management of the site would
also need to provide the Required Information.

4.13

The Regulations prohibit the operation of a relevant protected site unless the site owner or site
manager has been assessed by the local authority as a fit and proper person. This is to ensure that
consistent standards are applied to companies and other organisations that are not individuals.
Criminal record certificate/s

4.14

Criminal Records Certificates must be issued under section 113A (1) of the Police Act 1997 and will
be required where: (a) the Relevant person is an individual and (b) for each individual in relation to
whom the applicant is required to provide information for example, a site manager or individuals A,
B, C or D as outlined above.
The certificate must have been issued no more than six months before the date of the application.
It is incumbent upon the site owner to ensure that any certificates provided meet this requirement.

5.0

Declaration

5.1

A declaration made and signed by the ‘appropriate person’ which means:



where the applicant is a company, a director or other officer of the company;
where the applicant is a partnership, one of the partners;

Page 30




where the applicant is a body corporate and the conduct of the management of the body is
vested in its members, a member
where the applicant is not a body falling within the above, a member of the management
committee;
where the applicant is an individual, that individual.

5.2

Where the applicant is not the relevant person, the declaration must confirm that the applicant has
made all reasonable enquires into the matters mentioned in paragraph 9 of the Regulations and
considerations relevant to the fit and proper person assessment as set out below.

5.3

The declaration should state that the information provided in the application is correct and complete
to the best of the applicant’s knowledge and belief.

6.0

Considerations relevant to fit and proper person assessment

6.1

Proper management of the site includes, but is not limited to, securing compliance with the site
licence and the long term maintenance of the site.

6.2

To be able to secure the proper management of the site, Worcester City Council must (amongst
other things) have regard to whether the relevant person has a sufficient level of competence to
manage the site, the management structure (or proposed management structure) and the funding
arrangements for the site in question.

7.0

Decisions, notification and rights of appeal

7.1

Worcester City Council must make a decision on the application in a timely and practicable manner
and either:



7.2

Where the decision is to grant the application unconditionally and include the relevant
person on the register for five years, Worcester City Council will serve a final decision
notice on the applicant.
Where this is not the case, Worcester City Council will serve a preliminary decision notice
on the applicant.

On receipt of an application the local authority may:




grant the application unconditionally;
grant the application subject to conditions;
reject the application.

Granting the application unconditionally
7.3

Where Worcester City Council is satisfied that the applicant meets the fit and proper person test
unconditionally, the applicant must be included on the register for a maximum five years.
Worcester City Council will issue a final decision notice to the applicant to inform them of its
decision.

7.4

The final decision notice must clearly state:





the date the final decision notice is served;
the final decision;
the reason(s) for the decision;
when the decision is to take effect;

Page 31


information about the right of appeal to the First Tier Tribunal and the period within which
an appeal may be made.

To include the applicant on the register subject to certain condition(s)
7.5

In some circumstances, Worcester City Council can specify that the individual for the fit and
proper person test will only be successful if certain condition(s) are met. If these condition(s) are
satisfied, the local authority can grant an application subject to those condition(s). The local
authority can also grant an application for less than five years.

7.6

Worcester City Council may decide to include the person on a register subject to condition(s), if it
would only be satisfied that the person would meet the fit and proper requirement if the
condition(s) were complied with. An applicant will be able to appeal against the decision to attach
(or vary) any condition to an entry on the register.

7.7

Conditions will need to be clearly stated for the applicant’s understanding and this will allow
Worcester City Council to ensure that the condition(s) are enforceable.

7.8

An example of the requirements is included in the table:
Specific

The specific condition(s) a site owner is being requested to address.

Measurable

The condition(s) required and the outcome(s) expected.

Achievable

The applicant should be reasonably expected to be able to achieve the
condition(s). For example, it may not be reasonable to expect an owner of one
small site to have the same resources to introduce the same procedures as a
larger company.

Realistic

The applicant should have a clear understanding of how the required
outcome(s) can be reached and that there are no circumstances or factors
which would make the achievement of the outcome impossible or unlikely.

Timebound

A clear timescale in which the required outcome must be completed.

To what can a condition relate?
7.9

The fit and proper person test is aimed at ensuring that the person managing the site is competent
and any conditions should relate directly to the person’s ability to secure the proper management
of the site.

7.10

Where a person has contravened legislation or committed offences set out above, it is not
recommended that conditions are set in relation to those matters. Such a condition would be
unlikely to meet the tests set out above; for example, if a person has committed fraud or violence,
that exact incident cannot be reversed by requiring the person to perform a specific task.

7.11

In cases where the person has committed those listed offences or contravened legislation,
Worcester City Council will consider these breaches in tandem with all the other information
available to reach a preliminary decision.

7.12

Conditions can relate to any factors which are relevant to the person’s competence to manage the
site, the management structure, or funding arrangements for the site, an associated person’s
influence, and any other relevant factors. An example of a suitable condition could relate to the
payment of an annual fee. A condition can also be set with respect to ensuring the relevant person
has the ability to secure the proper management of the site.

Page 32
7.13

Example 1 - A local authority has evidence of a site owner’s failure over a certain period of time to
address residents’ complaints. This is an example of poor management which could be resolved
by the site owner implementing an adequate complaints procedure. A condition could be attached
requiring the site owner to ‘implement an effective and accessible three stage complaints process
for residents by xxx date and provide the LA with quarterly reports of complaints and outcomes,
from that date and for the first year’.

7.14

If the condition is met within the specified time frame, the local authority can record this in the
register. If, at a future date, it is found that the site owner failed to implement a complaints
procedure, a further opportunity to comply may be given and this could include a new condition of
the site owner providing quarterly reports of complaints and outcomes for each year. The site
owner could also be expected to complete a relevant ‘CPD customer service/Dealing with
complaints’ course by a certain period. Should the local authority consider the actions as unlikely
to achieve the desired outcome, however, the site owner could be removed from the register.

7.15

Example 2 – If, when considering an application, certain documents or information are
unavailable to the applicant, because of delays from third parties, the local authority may wish to
attach a condition to the entry on the register that the site owner ‘is to provide the authority by
registered post, with the original xx document by xx date’.

7.16

Example 3 - An associated person has been visiting the park and through their action xxx, has
caused distress to the residents, impacting their well-being and security. A condition could be
attached to the register requiring the site owner to ‘put measure(s) in place by xxx date preventing
the associated person, or any other person, from carrying out action xxx on the site’.
Decisions not to include the applicant on the register

7.17

Should Worcester City Council determine that the applicant does not meet the requirements and
attaching conditions would not be appropriate, a refusal to grant the application can be issued.

7.18

Where Worcester City Council has decided to include the applicant on the register subject to
conditions, or to not include the applicant on the register, a preliminary decision notice to the
applicant must be issued.

7.19

The preliminary decision notice must clearly state:








the date the preliminary decision notice is served;
the preliminary decision;
the reason(s) for the decision;
the date it is proposed that the final decision will take effect;
information about the right to make written representations;
where the preliminary decision is to refuse the application, the consequences of causing or
permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in contravention of the
Regulations;
where the preliminary decision is to grant the application subject to condition(s), the
consequences of failing to comply with any condition(s).

Right to make a representation
7.20

An applicant who receives a preliminary decision notice will have 28 days in which to make
representations to Worcester City Council. The 28-day period begins the day after the date on
which the notice was served. Worcester City Council is obliged to consider any such
representations before making a final decision.

Page 33
Final decision notice
7.21

Following the end of the 28-day representation period, Worcester City Council must, as soon as is
reasonably practicable, make a final decision and serve the decision notice on the applicant.

7.22

The final decision notice must set out:








the date the final decision notice is served;
the final decision;
the reason(s) for the decision;
when the decision is to take effect;
information about the right of appeal and the period in which an appeal may be made;
where the decision is to refuse the application, the consequences of causing or permitting
the land to be used as a relevant protected site in contravention of the Regulations;
where the decision is to grant the application subject to condition(s), the consequences of
failing to comply with any condition(s).

Appeals
7.23

The applicant can decide to appeal the decision by making an application to the First Tier Tribunal
(Property Chamber) (‘The Tribunal’) within specific timeframes set by The Tribunal. The applicant
is permitted to appeal against any decisions served by Worcester City Council. These could
include:




include the relevant person on the register for an effective period of less than five years;
including the relevant person on the register subject to condition(s);
rejecting the application.

7.24

Where an applicant accepts Worcester City Council’s decision not to include the person originally
stated in the application on the register, they will be required to seek alternative management
arrangements to comply with the fit and proper person requirement. Failure to do so is an offence.

7.25

An appellant will not be able to claim compensation for losses incurred pending the outcome of an
appeal.

Withdrawal or amendment of notice
7.26

There may be circumstances where a local authority may decide not to continue or to withdraw a
previously agreed action such as after serving:




a preliminary decision notice but before service of the final decision notice;
a final decision notice but before the decision to which it relates takes effect;
a notice of proposed action but before the proposed action is taken.

7.27

To withdraw or amend a notice, Worcester City Council must serve notice to the person on whom
the original notice was served.

7.28

There are no requirements for notices to contain specific information, however, it is recommended
that a withdrawal or amendment notice should state:




that it is withdrawing or amending the original notice (a copy of the original notice should
be attached for reference);
the reason(s) for withdrawing the notice;
the date it takes effect;

Page 34


the implications of the decision in relation to the person’s entry on the register.

8.0

Removal from the register

8.1

If, after a person is included in the register, new evidence relevant to the person’s inclusion
becomes available, Worcester City Council may decide to:





8.2

Worcester City Council must use its judgement when determining whether to review an entry and
consider any subsequent actions are required. Any such decision should be related to the person
being a fit and proper person rather than to site licensing issues which are governed separately. If
Worcester City Council decides to take any of the actions listed in paragraph above, a notice of
any proposed action will be served on the occupier. The notice of proposed action must clearly
state:










8.3

remove the person from the register;
impose a condition on the inclusion of the person in the register (regardless of whether
there are conditions already imposed);
vary a condition;
remove a condition.

the date the notice of proposed action is served;
the action Worcester City Council proposed to take;
the reason(s) for the action;
the date it is proposed that Worcester City Council will take the action;
information about the right to make written representations;
where the proposed action requires the removal of a person from the register, the
consequences of causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in
contravention of the Regulations;
where the proposed action is to impose a condition(s) on the inclusion of a person on the
register or to vary a condition(s), the consequences of failing to comply with said
condition(s).

A notice of proposed action is not required if Worcester City Council decides to remove a
condition attached to an entry. A removal of a condition is viewed widely as being a positive step
which is unlikely to be opposed, therefore a notice of proposed action is not required. Worcester
City Council will endeavour as good practice to make the site owner or their manager aware of the
decision in writing and ensure the register is updated.
Notice of action taken

8.4

Where a notice of proposed action is given, the occupier will have 28 days, starting from the day
after the date the notice is served, in which to make representations.

8.5

The local authority must, as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the 28-day period,
decide whether to carry out the proposed action.

8.6

Where the local authority decides to take the action, the local authority must serve a further notice
on the occupier, indicating the action that has been taken, within the period of five working days
beginning with the day after the day on which the action was taken.

8.7

The notice of action must set out:




the date the notice of action is served;
the fact that they have taken the action;
the reasons for doing so;

Page 35





the date the action was taken;
information about the right of appeal and the period within which an appeal may be made;
where the action is to remove a person from the register, the consequences of causing or
permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in contravention of regulations;
where the action is to impose a condition on the inclusion of a person in the register or to
vary a condition, the consequences of failing to comply with any condition.

9.0

Offences

9.1

There are three offences which can occur within the Regulations:




9.2

operating a site in contravention of the fit and proper person regulations. The site owner
will have certain defences under the Regulations in any proceedings brought against them;
withholding information or including false or misleading information in the registration
application. In this instance, the site owner will not have any defences under the
Regulations in any proceedings brought against them for this offence;
failing to comply with a specified condition. The site owner will have certain defences
under the Regulations in any proceedings brought against them.

Worcester City Councils responsible for enforcing the Regulations. A site owner found guilty of
any of the aforementioned offences will be liable on summary conviction to a level five on the
standard scale (currently unlimited) fine.
Defences

9.3

One defence is available to a site owner who has inherited a site and would be found to have a
reasonable excuse for failing to make an application within the relevant periods as set out below.
Relevant periods in specific circumstances

9.4

The below table outlines limited circumstances where a site owner may have a defence.
Row
1

2

3

4

Circumstance
The occupier held a site licence immediately
before the day on which regulation 4 (operating
a site without being a fit and proper person)
came into force on 01 October 2021.
The period of a person’s inclusion in the register
in relation to the site has come to an end other
than as a result of action by the local authority
under regulation 8(1)(a) (removal from the fit
and proper register after new relevant evidence
becomes available).
At the time that the occupier became entitled to
within the period of three months possession of
the land it was in use as a relevant protected
site and within the period of 28 days beginning
with the day after the day on which the person
became the occupier of the land the occupier
notifies the relevant local authority of its intention
to make an application under regulation 6
(application for inclusion in the register).
At the time that the occupier became entitled to
possession of the land it was in use as a
relevant protected site and the occupier does

Relevant period for making an
application in the circumstance
From 01 July 2021 before 01 October
2021 – the day on which regulation 4
came into force.
Not less than two months before the
end of the period of the person’s
inclusion in the register.

Beginning with the day after the day on
which the person became the occupier
of the land.

Within the period of 28 days beginning
with the day after the day on which the

Page 36
not give the notification referred to in row 3
above.
A person appointed to manage the site no
longer does so and within the period of 28 days
beginning with the day after the relevant day the
occupier notifies the relevant local authority that
the person no longer does so.

person became the occupier of the
land.
Within the period of 3 months
beginning with the day after the
relevant day.

6

A person appointed to manage the site no
longer does so and the occupier does not give
the notification referred to in row 5 above.

Within the period of 28 days
beginning with the day after the
relevant day.

7

The breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
Within the period of three months
without being a fit and proper person) arises
beginning with the relevant day.
because the local authority has removed a
person from the register and within the period of
28 days beginning with the relevant day in
relation to the local authority’s decision the
occupier notifies the relevant local authority of its
intention to make a new application under
regulation 6 (application for inclusion in the
register) in relation to the site.

8

The breach of regulation 4(1) arises because
the local authority has removed a person from
the register and the occupier does not give the
notification referred to in row 7 above.

Within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day.

9

The breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) arises
because the local authority has refused an intime application and within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day in relation to the
refused application the occupier notifies the
relevant local authority of its intention to make a
new application under regulation 6.

Within the period of three months
beginning with the relevant day.

10

The breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) arises
because the local authority has refused an intime application and the occupier does not give
the notification referred to in row 9 above.

Within the period of 28 days beginning
with the relevant day.

5

10.0

The Fit and Proper Persons Register

10.1

The local authority must set up and maintain a register of persons who they are satisfied are fit
and proper persons to manage a site in their area. This register must be open to inspection by the
public during normal office hours. This register must also be published online.

10.2

The register will provide a record of the outcome (as discussed above) of the fit and proper person
tests the local authority have carried out for sites. The register must include the following:




the name and business contact details of the person;
the name and address of the relevant protected site to which the application relates;
the status of the person (site owner or manager of the site);

Page 37




the dates of the first and last day of the period for which the person’s inclusion in the
register has effect;
whether any condition is attached to the person’s inclusion in the register;
where any condition is attached to the person’s inclusion in the register:
i.
ii.
iii.

the number of any such conditions;
the dates of the first and last day of the period for which any such condition applies
(if applicable);
the date any condition is varied or satisfied (if applicable).

10.3

Where a person has met the fit and proper person test, the register will give details of that person
and of the associated site, including decisions made on how long a person’s inclusion may last
(up to a maximum of five years).

10.4

In order to comply with the fit and proper person requirement, a site owner must submit a new
application for the person (or alternative) to be included in the register. The new application must
be submitted at least two months before the existing inclusion in the register period comes to an
end.

10.5

Where there are refused applications, the following information must be included in the register:




the name and address of the site to which the application relates;
that an application in respect of the site has been refused;
the date on which the application was refused.

10.6

Details of the refused application will remain on the register until a successful fit and proper
person application is made in respect of the owner or manager of the site. The name of the
refused applicant will not be included on the register, however Worcester City Council will be able
to consider requests for further information about the entry on the register; for example, the details
of the specific conditions attached and any additional information, on a case by case basis and in
accordance with data protection legislation.

10.7

Where Worcester City Council has, with the site owner’s consent, appointed a person to manage
the site, Worcester City Council must include the following information:








the name and business contact details of the person;
the name and address of the site which the person has been appointed to manage;
the status of the person;
the dates of the first and last day of the period for which the person’s inclusion on the
register has effect;
whether any condition is attached to the person’s inclusion in the register;
where any condition is attached to the person’s inclusion in the register:
i.
ii.
iii.

the number of any such conditions;
the dates of the first and last day of the period for which any such condition applies
(if applicable);
the date any condition is varied or satisfied (if applicable).

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 39

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
Mobile Homes Act 2013
Fee Policy for Relevant Protected Sites

Revised version adopted with effect from DATE

Page 40

Contents

1.

Introduction

2.

Definitions

3.

Determination of fees

4.

General exemption from requirement to pay fees

5.

Application for a new site licence

6.

Transfer of a site licence

7.

Alteration of conditions of an existing licence

8.

Annual fees

9.

Application for inclusion on the register of fit and proper persons

10.

Depositing site rules

11.

Enforcement action

Annex A

Table of fees (with effect from 1st April 2022)

Annex B

Elements included in fee setting

Page 41

1.0

Introduction

1.1

This policy will become effective on 1st April 2022.

1.2

The Mobile Homes Act 2013 amended the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act
1960 to enable local authorities to set and charge fees to reclaim the cost of administering and
monitoring site licences and applications in respect of ‘relevant protected sites’.

1.3

This policy is therefore relevant to these sites and does not apply to sites that are for holiday
use only or sites that are prohibited from stationing caravans on the land for human habitation
at certain times of the year. If you wish to clarify whether a site falls under the definition of
‘relevant protected sites’, you should contact the Licensing Department to discuss this or obtain
your own legal advice.

1.4

Fees may be applied in respect of the following:







1.5

An application for a new site licence
An annual fee for a site licence
The amendment or variation of a site licence
The transfer of a site licence
The depositing of site rules to the local authority
An application to register as a fit and proper person

In setting fees, the Council:




May fix different fees in difference cases
May determine that no fee is required in some cases
Must act in accordance with its fees policy

1.6

The Council may not make a profit, recover enforcement costs for a breach of condition etc.
(there are separate provisions for reclaiming such costs) or recover costs associated with
unlicensed sites.

1.7

Before charging any fees, the Council is required to prepare and publish a fees policy. The fees
and policy in respect of Worcester City Council have been developed with reference to the
guidance produced by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) titled
‘Mobile Homes Act 2013 – A Guide for Local Authorities on setting site licence fees’ (February
2014). The guidance states that fees must be reasonable and transparent and outlines what
may be taken into account as costs incurred when setting the fees.

1.8

The policy will be published on the council’s website (www.worcester.gov.uk) and will be
available to view at council offices during the hours they are open to the public.

1.9

The fees as detailed in Annex A will come into effect from the date this policy is approved to
take effect. Fees must be paid at the time of submitting an application or depositing site rules in
order for them to be considered valid and be processed; the fees are non-refundable if an
application is refused by the authority or withdrawn by the applicant.

1.10

No charge can be made for providing informal advice in advance of an application being made;
however, as permitted, the fees charged for applications includes an element for costs which
are likely to be incurred as a result of such pre-application advice.

Page 42

2.0

Definitions

2.1

The following definitions will provide clarification for the purposes of this policy:
The Policy
This refers to Worcester City Council’s Fees Policy for Relevant Protected Sites
The Council
This means Worcester City Council.
Relevant Protected Site
As defined by Section 5A of the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (the 1960
Act) as amended by the Mobile Homes Act 2013 (the Act).

2.2

This policy will be amended annually without consultation to reflect any changes necessary to
the fees as outlined in Annex A. Any legislative or minor amendments will be made without
further consultation. All other changes will be subjected to a minimum twenty-eight day
consultation period with the holders of licences for the relevant protected sites in the district
and their respective established residents’ associations.

3.0

Determination of fees

3.1

These fees are to recover the costs of carrying out the licensing functions in relation to relevant
protected sites. The Council previously had no power to charge fees for these functions. The
guidance outlines numerous activities that can be included when setting these fees such as
sending out forms, letter writing/phone calls to make appointments or requesting
documentation, time for reviewing documentation, updating computer systems etc. The council
has made what it believes to be realistic assessments of the time and costs involved with these
activities based on previous experience of dealing with the licensing of such relevant protected
sites and the fees are calculated on full cost recovery of this officer time and resources.

3.2

The fees set out in this policy will be assessed each year to confirm that costs are being
recovered appropriately. If it is identified that there is a surplus or deficit, the fees may be
adjusted accordingly, and this policy reviewed and re-published to ensure costs are recovered,
whilst not making a profit.

4.0

General exemption from requirement to pay fees

4.1

The Council has resolved that no fees will be charged in respect of sites that are “non-commercial
family-occupied sites” as defined in regulation 3 of the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager
of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020.

Page 43

5.0

Application for a new site licence

5.1

The cost of processing an application for a site licence is recovered by the following fees,
taking into account that additional time is required for applications proposing more units due to
their increased complexity. An application for a licence will not be valid until the fee is provided
along with a plan of the site and any other information the council reasonably require.

5.2

The fees to be paid for new site licence applications is shown in the table at Annex A.

6.0

Transfer of a site licence

6.1

If there is a change of landowner, the new owner must apply to transfer any existing site
licence if they wish to continue providing mobile homes. The relevant fee shown in the table at
Annex A will be applicable to cover the cost of an application to transfer and the application will
not be valid until the fee is paid.

7.0

Alteration of conditions of an existing licence

7.1

If a licence holder applies to vary their licence (e.g. altering a condition or proposing more units
to be provided), the a fee will be applicable to cover the cost of proposing this and an
application will not be valid until the fee is paid and a site plan is provided where relevant along
with any other information the council reasonably require. The fee to be paid is shown in the
table at Annex A.

7.2

If the council deem it necessary to alter conditions, there will be no fee payable.

7.3

If the address of the licence holder or other administrative error needs amending or a copy of a
licence is required, no fee shall be charged.

8.0

Annual fees

8.1

The guidance for setting fees outlines several options for local authorities in respect of annual
fees:


Option 1 – fee per pitch (A fee based on the total cost to the local authority carrying out
its annual licensing function for all sites, divided by the total number of units over all the
sites which will give a price per unit)



Option 2 – fee based on site size bandings



Option 3 – fee based on a risk rating that takes into account the size of a site, the level
of compliance on a site and confidence in management.

8.2

The council has decided that the annual fees it will charge will be based on site size bandings.
The calculation of the fees has not included the cost of any inspection as it is not proposed that
sites would be routinely inspected at present. If a routine inspection programme is to be
implemented in future, these fees will be subject to review to recover such costs.

8.3

In respect of any site licence for a relevant protected site, a fee is required to be paid annually.
The fee to be paid is shown in the table at Annex A.

Page 44

8.4

Annual fees will be charged in respect of each relevant protected site that is licensed on 1st
April each year regardless of the date that the relevant licence was last issued, transferred or
otherwise amended.

8.5

The legislation allows the licence holder to recover these costs via the residents’ pitch fee.

8.6

In the event an annual fee is not paid within the terms of the invoice, the council may apply to
the First Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) for an order requiring the licence holder to pay the
amount due. If the arrears have not been paid, after 3 months the council may apply to the
Tribunal for an Order revoking the licence.

9.0

Application for inclusion on the register of fit and proper persons

9.1

From 1st July 2021, the council must be satisfied that the occupier of the land used as a
relevant protected site or a person appointed by the occupier to manage the site, is a fit and
proper person. If necessary, the council can appoint a person to manage the site.

9.2

The council must establish and maintain a register of persons they are satisfied are fit and
proper to manage a relevant protected site in their area.

9.3

An application to be included in the register must be accompanied by the relevant fee shown in
the table at Annex A to cover the cost of administering this function and an application will not
be valid until the fee is paid.

9.4

If the council are satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person, they can be included in
the register for up to 5 years.

9.5

The regulations include that a person may be included in the register subject to condition(s).
Such conditions may be varied or removed, or the person may be removed from inclusion in
the register at any time if new evidence relevant to the person’s inclusion in the register
becomes available.

9.6

The regulations permit an annual fee to be paid for inclusion in the register. It is not proposed
at this time that an annual fee will be charged.

9.7

There is also provision for the council to appoint a person to manage a site, with the site
owner’s consent. In this instance, any costs incurred or to be incurred, in making the
appointment will be recharged to the site owner on the same basis as enforcement costs are
calculated.

10.0

Depositing site rules

10.1

Site rules are agreed between the site owner and the residents of the site. Their purpose is to
ensure acceptable standards are maintained on relevant protected sites, which will be of
benefit to occupiers or will promote and maintain community cohesion on the site. The 2013
Act changes the way site rules must be agreed between both the licence holder and residents
of the site and requires that the council keep an up to date register of site rules from relevant
protected sites and publish the register online.

10.2

Where the site owners implement new site rules or change existing rules, they must be
deposited with the council for them to update the register.

Page 45

10.3

Any site rules deposited with the council for the first time or applications to vary or delete
existing site rules must be accompanied by the appropriate fee shown in the table at Annex A.
The fee is the same for either a first deposit or for a subsequent variation or deletion; this is
because the process will be very similar for all three types of deposits.

11.0

Enforcement action

11.1

The Mobile Homes Act 2013 introduced the provision for local authorities to serve enforcement
notices and to carry out works in default to address breaches of site licence conditions. The
costs of such enforcement action can also be recovered and are therefore not included in the
determination of application or annual fees as they will be charged elsewhere.

11.2

Fees for enforcement/regulation are not set specifically within this policy; they will be
determined on a case by case basis and will include the cost of officer time including the
expenses for any inspections, decision processes to take enforcement action, preparing of
notices or other documentation as well as the costs of obtaining expert and/or legal advice
along with any other costs incurred. A breakdown of such expenses would be provided with a
compliance notice and officer time will be charged at the full cost recovery hourly rate for each
officer engaged in the case.

11.3

If any works in the compliance notice are not carried out, the licence holder commits an offence
and the council may consider taking legal proceedings. Any costs associated with this process
would be at the discretion of the court.

11.4

If a prosecution was successfully taken, the council would have the power to carry out the
works in default of the licence holder and recover these expenses.

11.5

Charges for enforcement costs cannot be passed onto the residents’ pitch fee.

Page 46

Annex A – Table of fees (with effect from 1st April 2022)

Application for a new site licence

Up to 20 units

£179.00

21 – 50 units

£255.00

51 – 75 units

£332.00

More than 75 units

£383.00

Transfer of a site licence

£102.00

Alteration of conditions of an existing licence

£204.00

Annual fees

Up to 20 units

£179.00

21 – 50 units

£255.00

51 – 75 units

£332.00

More than 75 units

£383.00

Deposit, variation or deletion of site rules

£51.00

Application for inclusion on the register of fit and
proper persons

£200.00

General exemption from fees
The Council has resolved that no fees will be charged in respect of sites that are “noncommercial family-occupied sites” as defined in regulation 3 of the Mobile Homes
(Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020.

Page 47

Annex B – Elements included in fee setting:
The DCLG guidance sets out the activities that the Council can include when calculating its
annual fee, these include:


Letter writing/telephone calls etc to make appointments and requesting any
documents or other information from the site owner or from any third party in
connection with the licensing process;



Handling enquiries and complaints;



Updating hard files/computer systems;



Updating the EU Directive website if appropriate;



Processing the licensing fee;



Time for reviewing necessary documents and certificates;



Downloading photographs;



Preparing reports on contraventions;



Review by manager or lawyers;



Review any consultation responses from third parties;



Carrying out any risk assessment process considered necessary;



A pre-programmed full site inspection;



A follow-up inspection to check compliance following programmed inspection;

This page is intentionally left blank

